IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SID J. WHITE SEP 20 1993 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By______ Chief Deputy Clerk

ANTHONY J. FARINA,

Appellant/Cross-Appellee,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee/Cross Appellant.)

CASE NO. 81,118

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

THOMAS R. MOTT, ESQUIRE Florida Bar Number 313815 528 North Halifax Avenue Post Office Box 2055 Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2055 (904) 257-2400

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT/ CROSS-APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 19, 1992, the Grand Jury for Volusia County, Florida, returned an eleven count indictment against the Appellant charging him with: First Degree Murder, Attempted First Degree Murder in three counts, Armed Robbery with a Fire Arm or Deadly Weapon, Burglary of an Occupied Structure, with a Battery, Kidnapping in four counts, and Conspiracy to Commit Murder and/or Armed Robbery. (R2162-2167)¹ Numerous pre-trial motions were filed. (R2169-2701) The trial court entered a pre-trial order on June 26, 1992, which, among other things, set a trial date for November 9, 1992, (R2227) set deadlines for filing pre-trial motions which in effect amended the Florida rules for criminal procedure, (R2228) and prohibited counsel on questioning potential jurors on anticipated instructions for theories of law. (R2229)

A motion to sever defendants was filed on August 7, 1992

¹"R" refers to the record and transcripts up to and including Volume 21; "TT" refers to trial transcripts beginning with Volume 22.

(R2245-2246), and the motion was in part denied. (R2430) Also on August 7, 1992, motions to suppress statements and confessions were filed. (R2250-2252) An order pertaining to the defendant's motions to suppress was filed on September 17, 1992. (R2339-2353) The motions were granted in part and denied in part. (R2339-2353) On October 28, 1992 an order was entered and filed granting the Defendant's motion for severance, unless the state elected either not to use statements and confessions obtained or use only those portions of statements and confessions that were redacted so as to avoid any "Bruton" problems. (R2430-2431)

A motion to change venue was filed on August 11, 1992 (R2253-2278A), the motion was denied. (R247, TT996)

Several motions pertaining to "victim impact evidence" were filed on August 21, 1992. (R2283-2321) An order on the Defendant's motions pertaining to victim impact evidence was entered on October 20, 1992 and filed on October 21, 1992. (R2383-2389) The motions were denied in part and granted in part. (R2383-2389)

On October 30, 1992 Appellant moved to disqualify the Office of the State Attorney for the Seventh Judicial Circuit, on the grounds that the State Attorney had engaged in "forum shopping" and had in effect hand picked the Judge to try the Taco Bell case. (R2434-2440) A hearing was held on November 6, 1992 pertaining to the motion to disqualify the Office of the State Attorney. On November 6, 1992, the day of the hearing, the State filed a response to the Defendant's motion to disqualify the State

-2-

Attorney's Office. (R2486-2489) An order denying the Defendant's motion to disqualify the State Attorney was entered on November 13, 1992 nunc pro tunc to November 6, 1992. (R2559-2568) While the Court denied the Defendant's motion to disqualify the State Attorney, the Court did find that the State Attorney had improperly manipulated the case and that those improper procedures gave the entire judicial system a "black eye." (R2562) On November 9, 1992, the Defendant filed a motion for additional peremptory challenges or to declare Florida Statute 913.08(1)(A), unconstitutional. (R2498-2500)

Also on November 9, 1992, the day that the trial commenced, the Defendant filed a motion to disqualify the trial judge. (R2504-2523) The motion to disqualify Judge Richard Orfinger was granted and Judge Uriel Blount was substituted as the trial judge, and the case proceeded to trial, without delay. (TT1-1063) On November 12, 1992, the Chief Judge of the Circuit filed a written order of reassignment pertaining to the substitution of Judge Blount for Judge Orfinger; the order was entered on November 9, 1992. (R2547-2751)

The case proceeded to jury trial on November 16, 1992 and on November 18, 1992 the jury returned verdicts of guilty on all eleven counts of the indictment. (TT1-1064; R2609-2919) The case proceeded to the penalty phase the next day and on November 20, 1992 the jury returned a recommendation of seven jurors recommending death and five jurors life. (R2639)

A motion for a new trial was filed on November 30, 1992.

-3-

(R2640-2647) On December 16, 1992 a hearing on the motion for a new trial and a sentencing hearing was conducted. (R2117-2155) The trial court followed the recommendation of the jury and sentenced the Defendant to death. (R2650-2684)

On January 4, 1993 the State filed a notice of Appeal/Cross Appeal. (R2865-2686) On January 15, 1993 a timely notice of appeal was filed by the Defendant. (R2687) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This is a case the media has labeled the "Taco Bell" case. (R1023, 2262) In the early morning hours of May 9, 1992, Derek Mason, Kimberly Gordon, Michelle Van Ness and Gary Robinson were preparing to close a Taco Bell restaurant in the city of Daytona Beach, Florida. (TT98-105, 328-331, 359-367) Derek Mason was the first victim to testify: He and Michelle Van Ness gathered the trash and took it outside to the garbage cans. (TT104-105) Once outside, Mason noticed a dark colored car about fifteen feet from the garbage cans. (TT105) Two people jumped out of the car and ran toward Mason and Van Ness. One person pulled a gun and shoved it in Mason's back. (TT106) Mason was ordered into the store to (TT106) The two people were identified as get the manager. Anthony and Jeffrey Farina. (TT109-110) Jeffrey was armed with a hand gun and Anthony was armed with a knife. (TT109-100) Once in the restaurant the manager, Kim Gordon, and the other employee, Gary Robinson, were located and held at gun point, along with Mason and Van Ness. (TT110-113) Then, Jeffrey Farina held Van Ness, Mason and Robinson at gun point in the rear of the restaurant while Anthony took the manager, Kim Gordon, to her office to open the safe. (TT111-113) Anthony Farina returned with Kim to the rear of the store where he asked if anyone wanted a cigarette. (TT115) Ms. Van Ness and Ms. Gordon said yes and Anthony gave them cigarettes. (TT115) Mason was then taken to the manager's office by Jeffrey Farina where he tied up Mr. Mason. (TT115-117) When Jeffrey returned Mason to the rear of the store, Mason asked

-5-

Anthony Farina if he could sit down and Anthony said yes. (TT117) At that time, Jeffrey Farina took Gary Robinson to the manager's office and tied him up. (TT118-119) Mason recognized Anthony Farina from working with him at another Taco Bell. (TT107) When Jeff Farina and Gary Robinson were in the manager's office, Derek Mason asked Anthony Farina to come to him for a moment. (TT118) Anthony walked over to Mason and Mason asked if anyone was going to be hurt; Anthony replied, just cooperate and everything will be all right. (TT 118) According to Derek Mason, Anthony Farina had taken Ms. Van Ness and Ms. Gordon to the manager's office and tied them up. (TT120) Upon his return, Anthony Farina directed everyone to enter the cooler area. (TT120-121) Upon Ms. Gordon's request Anthony Farina considered turning the freezer off but was concerned that he might set off an alarm. (TT121-122) The Farina brothers left the cooler area for a few moments and upon their return they ordered the four victims into the freezer. (TT122-123) Jeffrey Farina then raised the pistol and pointed it at Gary Robinson's chest and began to fire. (TT123) Jeffrey Farina then shot Derek Mason in the face. (TT124) When Jeff pointed the gun at Derek's chest and pulled the trigger the gun misfired. (TT125) Mason then realized that he had been shot and then he heard another shot and saw Michelle Van Ness fall. (TT125-126) Mason then saw Anthony Farina hand Jeffrey Farina a knife and Jeffrey stabbed Kim Gordon. (TT127-128) Mason was not sure, but he believed that Anthony Farina was holding Gordon's head down while Jeffrey stabbed her. (TT128) Ms. Gordon later testified that Anthony Farina was

-6-

at the exterior part of the cooler when the stabbing occurred. (TT388) The Farinas then left the Taco Bell. (TT131)

Gary Robinson was the next victim to testify. (TT328-358) For the most part, Mr. Robinson's testimony corroborated the testimony of Mr. Mason. When the Farinas came into the store, Jeffrey was carrying the gun and Anthony was carrying the knife. (TT3322) The Taco Bell employees were asked to go to the back of the store in front of the cooler. (TT334) Jeffrey held a gun on Derek, Michelle and Gary while Anthony and Ms. Gordon went to the manager's office to get the money. (TT334-335) When Anthony and Kim Gordon returned to the area just outside the cooler, Anthony offered everyone a cigarette. (TT335) After everyone was tied they were ordered into a walk-in cooler. (TT336-337) Once in the cooler, Kim Gordon asked Anthony to shut off the cooling unit. (TT338) Anthony told Kim that he would turn off the cooling unit. (TT387) Anthony walked outside of the cooler for a moment with Jeffrey; when he returned he announced that he could not turn off the cooling unit because he was afraid of setting off an alarm. (TT338) Anthony Farina then said I am going to have to ask you to step into the freezer. (TT338) According to Robinson's testimony, a few moments after being in the freezer the shooting started. (TT338-340) After shooting Robinson, Mason and Van Ness, Jeffrey attempted to shoot Gordon but the gun misfired. (TT340) At that time, Anthony handed Jeffrey a knife and Jeffrey stabbed Ms. Gordon. (TT340) After Jeffrey stabbed Gordon the Farinas left the store. (TT341-342) Robinson testified on cross-examination that

-7-

Anthony Farina was congenial toward him and the others, until the time that the shooting started. (TT346-348, 351) Robinson testified that Anthony Farina did not shoot anyone and did not stab anyone; he testified that Anthony did not encourage Jeffrey Farina to shoot or stab anyone. (TT353) Additionally, Robinson testified that Anthony did not actually assist Jeffrey in the shooting and did not assist Jeffrey in stabbing Kim Gordon. (TT353) In contrast to Mr. Mason's testimony, Mr. Robinson testified that Anthony Farina did not touch Kim Gordon, that he was aware of, even though he watched the stabbing occur. (TT353)

The next victim to testify was Kim Gordon. (TT358-390) As Ms. Gordon was performing her closing duties, she heard someone call her name. (TT368) When she looked up she saw Anthony and Jeffrey Farina and Michelle Van Ness and Derek Mason. (TT368) Anthony had a knife and Jeffrey had a gun. (TT369) Anthony took Kim Gordon to the manager's office to get money out of the safe. (TT370-371) Kim asked for a cigarette and Anthony gave her one. (TT371) Each employee was then tied up one by one. (TT372-374) Once everyone was tied up, Kim Gordon asked for another cigarette and Anthony provided one for her. (TT374) Thereafter, accordingly to Kim Gordon:

Anthony said, well, everybody get in the cooler. And he asked me how to turn the cooler off. And I said, the only way I know is by the emergency button, which is at the left of the door. And he, Anthony, then said, well, I don't want to -- I don't want to hit that because I don't want an alarm to go off."

(TT376)

-8-

Anthony then left and came back a few moments later and indicated that everyone would have to enter the freezer. (TT379-380) As soon as the victims had entered the freezer they turned around and the shooting began. (TT380-382) When Ms. Gordon last saw Anthony Farina he was "by the door of the walk-in when I last saw him." (TT380) The only other thing she remembered was feeling a knife going in her and then passing out. (TT381-382)

Ms. Gordon further testified that Anthony Farina did not encourage Jeffrey to shoot anybody. (TT386) She testified that Anthony Farina offered to turn the cooler off, without anyone requesting that the cooler be turned off. (TT386-387) She could not tell if Anthony Farina was armed and she never saw Anthony make any threatening gestures toward anyone with any weapon. (TT386-388) She also testified that Anthony was back by the entrance to the walk-in cooler away from the freezer door. (TT388)

After the Farinas had left the store, Mason and Robinson went to the manager's office and called 911. Shortly thereafter, the police arrived at the Taco Bell, entered the restaurant and made contact with Mr. Mason. (TT55-58; 98-100)

Upon arrival of the paramedics, Mason declined immediate treatment so the more seriously injured could be cared for. (TT65-67) He explained what had happened, gave descriptions of an automobile and two assailants. He told the police he recognized one of the assailants who had a tattoo of a burning heart on his right shoulder as a former employee of Taco Bell. He said his name was "Tony." (TT67-72) With Mason's help, the police located the

-9-

personnel file of Anthony Farina. (TT67-72; 134-35) Mason, Van Ness and Robinson had been shot with the same .32 caliber pistol. (TT314-319) Ms. Van Ness died the next day without regaining consciousness. (TT96; 271) Mr. Robinson, who had been shot through the left lung, was in intensive care for seven days. (TT343). Mr. Mason had surgery and was released from the hospital three days later. (TT140) Ms. Gordon remained in the hospital for nine days. (TT382-83)

POST ARREST FACTS

Sixteen-year-old Jeffrey Farina and his brother Anthony (who was eighteen at the time of the offense), along with twenty-yearold John Henderson were arrested on the same day of the incident, May 9, 1992. (TT167-172, 279-280; R2156-2159) When Ms. Van Ness died, the State Attorney's Office obtained a court order authorizing the defendants to be transported for "booking and fingerprinting" for first-degree murder. (R2160-61) On May 11, 1992 the three defendants were transported, together, to the Daytona Beach Police Department in a patrol car wherein their conversations were monitored and recorded. (R375-81)

Once inside the station, each defendant signed a waiver of rights form and was questioned by Detective Sylvester. (R360-61; 426-35; 445-50) A Florida Department of Law Enforcement fingerprint expert also asked questions (R476-81), and then the defendant was returned to the police car so the conversations could be monitored/recorded. (R379)

Following an evidentiary hearing (R356-392; 425-570) on motions to suppress those statements, Judge Orfinger ruled that the

-10-

statements obtained from Jeffrey Farina by the FDLE expert were inadmissible because the agent improperly questioned Jeffrey after the right to counsel was invoked (R2857), but the court refused to suppress statements intercepted while the defendants were in the rear of the police car. (R2847-61) Judge Orfinger, however, severed John Henderson's case. (R2430-31) Anthony and Jeffrey Farina could be tried together if the State used only those intercepted statements that were made when both Anthony and Jeffrey Farina were present. (R2431)

On October 17, 1992, the Daytona Beach News Journal reported that, while speaking at a local bar function, the Clerk of the Court, Mr. Newell Thornhill, denied accusations of "judge shopping" in the Taco Bell case and explained that the case had been moved to DeLand at the request of State Attorney John Tanner to prevent students from attending the trial. The newspaper quoted the Republican candidate for Clerk of Court, Mrs. Matousek, as alleging:

> The present clerk, if you're one of his good old boy buddies, will even allow you to judge shop, Mrs. Matousek said. She referred to the Taco Bell murder case, in which three young men are charged with murdering a teenage girl. The case, originally assigned to an East Volusia judge, was shifted by Thornhill to a DeLand judge.

(R2440, 2919) Defense counsel investigated and then moved to disqualify the State Attorney's Office based on prosecutorial misconduct. (R2434-2440, 2913-19)

An evidentiary hearing conducted by Judge Orfinger on November 6, 1992 showed that, pursuant to an order from the Chief Judge, the

-11-

clerk's office was to use a "blind filing system" whereby capital cases are normally assigned on a rotational basis influenced by the number of capital cases presently assigned to a particular circuit (R849-53; 877-78) The "Taco Bell" case would have court judge. been assigned to Judge Briese had normal procedures followed. (R844; 857) With the public defender's office consent to contact Judge Briese's judicial assistant to determine if hearing time could be obtained for a motion to withdraw (R789), Assistant State Attorney Damore contacted Judge Briese's office and asked for hearing time and indicated the matter needed to be expedited. Damore was told by Judge Briese that the public defender (R897) would have to set own hearing and that the case would be treated no differently than any other first-degree murder case because that was a firm rule of Judge Briese. (R897-98)

Thereafter, State Attorney John Tanner went to see The Clerk of Court, Newell Thornhill, at the DeLand clerk's office. (R798). Mr. Thornhill testified that the State Attorney came into his office and asked for the Taco Bell case to be tried in the city of (R798) Mr. Thornhill testified that he simply repeated DeLand. Mr. Tanner's request to the deputy clerk who assigned the capital (R803) However, the deputy clerk testified that Mr. cases. Thornhill, though aware of the administrative order controlling assignment of capital cases, directed that the Taco Bell case be assigned to the west side of the county at the request of State Attorney Tanner. (R841-43) At that time, Judge Orfinger was the only judge handling felony cases on the west side. (R841)

-12-

Judge Briese learned that the case was no longer assigned to him and called Thornhill to find out why; The Clerk replied, "I don't want to be smart, but I decline to answer." (R876) Judge Briese believed the timing was suspect, in that the assignment was soon after Damore was told that Judge Briese would not give the Taco Bell case priority treatment. (R891-92) Judge Briese reported to Chief Judge McFerrin Smith that it appeared the Taco Bell case was being manipulated. (R884-86) Judge Smith contacted the Clerk and was told that the case had been assigned at Mr. Tanner's request for security reasons and to prevent truancy of high school children. (R888-89)

Judge Orfinger found that the case had been assigned at the request of the state attorney (R922) and noted, "this type of situation gives the entire judicial system a black eye." (R926) However, he refused to disqualify the state attorney's office and imposed no sanction because the defendants could not show actual prejudice. (R931;2970-2978)

JURY SELECTION FACTS

The day of trial, Anthony Farina moved² to recuse Judge Orfinger. (R2504-2523) Judge Orfinger granted that motion and on his own motion recused himself from presiding over Jeffrey Farina's case. (R981-982) Shortly thereafter, Judge Blount replaced Judge Orfinger later that morning and announced that he had read and was

² Affixed as an exhibit to the motion to recuse Judge Orfinger is a copy of a newspaper article from the Daytona Beach News Journal dated November 7, 1992, which sets forth the evidence and rulings made concerning the motion to disqualify the state attorney's office. (R2516)

familiar with the court file, ratified all prior rulings and orders (R994), and ruled that the change of venue would be taken up again if it became necessary during jury selection. (R997-98)

In the instant case, the tone of the jury selection was set by the voir dire of the first twelve jurors called from the first venire. (R1007-1279) Six of the first twelve jurors were excused for cause because they could not be fair because of their exposure to pre-trial publicity. (R1027, 1234, 1236, 1241) Venireman Chicko stated that he could not be fair because of his exposure to pretrial publicity. (R1025) Ms. Moran and Ms. Demuth also stated that their exposure to pre-trial publicity made it impossible for them to sit as fair and impartial jurors. (R1024-1025) Venireman Smiley stated that he was exposed to pre-trial publicity and when he returned for the second day of voir dire he indicated:

MR. SMILEY: For example, I have to be truthful with you. I went into work last night, that's all everybody talked about.

MR. MOTT: All everybody talked about on your job was this case?

MR. SMILEY: Right. Everyone seen me on the news, and that's all they talked about.

(R1209)

Ms. Carolyn Lee, who was also among the first twelve jurors voir dired, stated she was "devastated over the thing . . . " (R1126) She stated that everyone had heard the devastating "Taco Bell" case news stories and they were very, very sad; they had upset the entire community. (R1130, 1215-1216) Ms. Lee was excused for cause. (R1234-1241) The final venireman of the

-14-

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