# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

DEC 22 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURSE

ANTHONY J. FARINA,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 81,118

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

#### ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE/CROSS APPEAL

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

MARGENE A. ROPER ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FL. BAR. #302015 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

The trial court found the circumstances of Farina's childhood to be nonstatutorily mitigating, which would encompass the cause, i.e. the alleged failure of the state social system (R 2654).

That appellant could argue as mitigation that he showed consideration for the physical and mental comfort of the victim strains credulity and was implicitly rejected by the court in its findings in aggravation.

Many of the postulated factors went to broader, recognized categories of nonstatutory mitigation such as child abuse and potential for rehabilitation. It would clearly be an undue burden to require the trial court to evaluate every historic incident or reference related to mental health experts. That is not the import of Campbell v. State, 571 So. 2d 415, 419 (Fla. 1990). There is no prescribed form for the order containing the findings of mitigating and aggravating circumstances where it appears that the sentence imposed was the result of reasoned judgment. Lucas v. State, 568 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1990). That is certainly the case here. If there was error in failing to evaluate or find nonstatutory mitigation it is harmless in light

of the very strong case for aggravation and in view of the fact that any error could not reasonably have resulted in a lesser sentence. Wickham v. State, 593 So. 2d 191 (Fla. 1991); See also, Cook v. State, 581 So. 2d 141 (Fla. 1991) (Despite failure of the trial court's sentencing order to specifically address certain nonstatutory mitigating circumstances this court affirmed the death sentence where it was convinced that the trial court would have imposed the death sentence even if the sentencing order had contained findings that each mitigating circumstance had been proven.

IX APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED HIS RIGHT TO A FAIR SENTENCING HEARING DUE TO PROSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT.

At the beginning of the penalty phase the state gave an opening statement (T 586). The record reflects that the state argued:

You should ask yourself in weighing those factors, whether these defendants should have aggravation placed upon them for the crimes they committed, or whether they should benefit by the fact that three of their four victims did not die. We submit to you, that, by the best efforts of these two men, three out of four people survived in spite of their best efforts. They should not benefit by the fact that we only had one child dead on that cold floor. (T 589).

The defense raised an objection on the ground that the statement of the prosecutor was argumentative. The court sustained the objection (T 589). No request for a curative instruction was made. No motion for mistrial was made. An objection to a prosecutor's comment which has been sustained must be followed by a motion for a mistrial in order to be preserved for appeal.

Holton v. State, 573 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1990). A different ground of objection also should not be considered on appeal. See, Hines v. State, 425 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982).

The prosecutor then further argued:

And under our law you are to consider as an aggravating factor, the factor that after these crimes had occurred, and in the escape from these crimes, that conscious decision had been made, from the time that they went into that store until they put those children into that cooler, and then Anthony walked in and he told Kim, we've got one more precaution to take, get into the freezer. What was their purpose for moving them back into that execution chamber? (T 591).

The defense objected to the prosecutor's statement on the ground that it constituted closing argument. The court sustained the objection (T 591). Again, no motion for mistrial was made below and a totally different ground of objection or error is being raised on appeal. This issue is waived.

The prosecutor further argued:

You should also consider the terror and the horror that has been shown to you by the evidence in this case that Michelle Van Ness went through. As Derek described to you the young girl who held onto his shoulder, held onto his arm as he tried to console her, as she contemplated her death -- (T 592).

The defense objected to this statement of the prosecutor again on the grounds that it was argumentative. The trial court sustained the objection (T 592). Again, no request for a curative instruction or motion for mistrial was raised below and a different claim of error is being raised on appeal. This claim is waived.

In discussing the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating factor the prosecutor stated "Can there be more of an obvious execution-style --." The defense objected again on the basis that the statement constituted argument and the objection was sustained by the trial court (T 592). Again, no motion for mistrial was raised below and a different claim of error is being raised on appeal. This claim is waived.

The prosecutor then argued:

In our history there have been others that have moved people into the cold chambers, bound and tied, unsuspecting like lambs. Consider whether or not this was an execution style killing. Weigh that aggravating factor. (T 593).

The defense made only a general objection to the above argument of the prosecutor, which was sustained by the trial court. In order to preserve as issue for appeal, a specific legal ground must be presented to the trial court. Bertolotti v. State, 565 So. 2d 1343 (Fla. 1990). The defense then made a motion for a mistrial on the grounds of extreme prosecutorial misconduct which was also denied (T 593). Even assuming the motion for mistrial saved this relief is warranted. Ouestionable for appeal, no statements that do not incite the passions and fears of the jury are not unconstitutional, and a new trial will not ordinarily be granted because of improper appeals by counsel to the sympathies of the jury unless it appears that the passions or prejudices of the jury have been aroused, or that the jury has been misled and has based its verdict on considerations beyond the evidence, or that the remarks influenced the jury to render a more severe sentencing recommendation in a capital case than it would have

Valle v. State, 474 So. 2d 796 (Fla. 1985). otherwise. reference to the "cold chambers" is not as flowery as it may appear at first blush, given the fact that a freezer is a "cold chamber" and that is exactly what the victims in this case were That is exactly what the evidence showed. The herded into. evidence also showed that the victims were, for the most part, "unsuspecting like lambs," at least up until the point they began to plead for their lives, although Michelle Van Ness was, nevertheless terrorized. The reference to "others" that have moved people into the "cold chambers" could refer to virtually any other past criminal endeavor. Whether the murder was execution style was an appropriate jury consideration. The major impropriety with the prosecutor's statement is that it wasn't limited to a discussion of facts he intended to substantiate. See, Spaziano v. State, 429 So. 2d 1344 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). extraneous, flowery language in opening statement, however, was hardly of the magnitude to cause the jury to render a more severe sentencing recommendation. The facts previously and subsequently presented reflect that this was an unusual execution-style murder, which took place in a freezer and was obviously cold, calculated and premeditated.

At the very beginning of opening statement the prosecutor stated:

Through the testimony of the witnesses in this case, you have come to know the terror and the horror that four young people came to on that evening. You came to know the terror of Michelle Van Ness. Though she could not be with us in this courtroom today and could not be with us in this courtroom throughout these proceedings, sat here

silently in the testimony of what occurred to her on that night -- (T 585).

Defense counsel objected that this statement was "improper." The objection was overruled by the trial court (T 585). The objection below was in the nature of a general objection. Furthermore, where a defense objection is properly overruled by the trial court, a different ground for the objection will not be considered on appeal. *Hines v. State*, 425 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982). It was never argued below that this comment was inflammatory or prejudicial.

In considering whether there were cold, calculated and premeditated acts the prosecutor asked the jury to consider that Jeffrey Farina raised the gun and pointed it at Gary Robinson and pulled the trigger and pointed the gun at Derek Mason and pulled the trigger first and struck him in the face. The prosecutor asked the jury to consider Derek up against the back wall and to consider that second attempt to pull the trigger --. The defense objected that the statement was argument designed to inflame the passions of the jury rather than opening statement. The trial court sustained the objection (T 595). No request for a curative No motion for mistrial was made on the instruction was made. basis of this comment. This issue is waived. No relief is warranted even if this statement could be considered. defendant shot one victim first then upon a misfire of the gun in the attempt to kill another victim, refired, is certainly relevant as to the deliberateness preceding the execution murder That another victim is considered in such of the later victim.

scenario does not run afoul of Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991).

In the context of the penalty phase, it should be remembered that all the information referenced by the prosecutor was already before this jury in the guilt phase. In such a situation an opening statement in the penalty phase will have some elements of review rather than just being a roadmap for the evidence to come. The comments of the prosecutor were not so egregious as to deeply implant seeds of prejudice or confusion and there was no fundamental error requiring resentencing by this court. The jury could ultimately consider what the prosecutor asked it to and the evidence was sufficient to show that Michelle Van Ness was terrorized by the cold, calculated, premeditated act of the defendant.

On direct examination of Derek Mason the prosecutor asked him to examine three items marked for identification. Counsel for Anthony Farina objected that he had not been presented with that evidence: a .32 caliber pistol, a dagger, and a section of rope similar to the murder and assault weapons and the rope that was used to bind the victims (T 605-606). The defense complained that the probative value of such evidence had was greatly outweighed by the prejudice (T 606). The jury was removed from the courtroom (T 606). The state indicated that it was not requesting that these items be received in evidence but were to be used as props in a reenactment of the assault (T 606). The objection was sustianed (T 607). Defense counsel for Jeffrey Farina then asked for a curative instruction. The court stated

"All right. There is nothing to instruct them, except the items are not being received and marked." Defense counsel for Anthony Farina then moved for a mistrial based upon the displaying of the items before the jury. Counsel argued that a curative instruction was not appropriate or effective under the circumstances and merely called more attention to the items. Defense counsel for Jeffrey Farina indicated that he did not have such a motion. The motion for mistrial was denied (T 608).

The state called Gary Robinson and Kimberly Gordon to the front of the courtroom (T 608). The state also requested that it be allowed to call four employees of the state attorney's office to help in a reenactment. Counsel for Anthony Farina objected to the procedure as a theatrical play. The state attorney indicated that he wished to reenact the crime. The court overruled the objection (T 609). The court ultimately disallowed the enactment because of the danger of prejudice (T 612).

The state next indicated that it would call Mr. Van Ness, the father of the deceased victim. An objection was made as to improper procedure and the jury was removed to the jury room. Defense counsel for Anthony Farina indicated that there had been pretrial motions filed to exclude victim impact evidence and objected to such testimony (T 614). Defense counsel for Jeffrey Farina requested a proffer of what Mr. Van Ness would testify to. The state indicated that such testimony would come within the reasonable purview of admissible evidence and was for the purpose of giving a brief background of the victim, and her dreams or aspirations, without getting into the loss to the family. The

state further argued that at the very least, pursuant to the amendment to the statute permitting victim impact testimony, it should be allowed to establish the age of the victim and fact that she was a high school student living at home (T 616). trial judge noted that Judge Orfinger had previously entered an order providing that victim impact evidence would not be considered by the court or the jury in the event that a capital sentencing proceeding was conducted. The order indicated that the court would, outside the presence of the jury, if requested by the state, consider victim impact evidence in determining the appropriate sentence, in the event that the defendants were convicted of one or more of the noncapital crimes which had been charged (T 617). Judge Blount indicated that he would abide by He further ruled that testimony had already that order. established the age and activities of the victim (T 617). state also indicated that it would be offering Mr. Van Ness' testimony "in a limited fashion as to the age and background of his daughter, to establish the element of heinousness, atrociousness, and cruelty, in contemplation of death, and what Michelle Van Ness brought to that incident, as she contemplated The trial judge indicated that was impending death." bordering on what they were not supposed to be doing, according to Judge Orfinger's order, which he had ratified. The court indicated that the Florida Supreme Court had ruled victim impact evidence harmless and that he would hear Mr. Van Ness outside the hearing of the jury. The state indicated that it would like Mr. Van Ness to be heard from before sentencing and the court

indicated it would address that problem after the jury was discharged (T 618). Counsel for Anthony Farina objected on the basis that Mr. Van Ness was called as a witness to invoke the sympathy of the jury and asked that the state be admonished from such antics in the future. The court stated "Let's don't play games, lets's get on with the case. I'm not going to admonish anybody for anything." Defense counsel for Jeffrey Farina joined in the objection and asked for a curative instruction (T 619). Judge Blount told counsel to submit an instruction and he would The prosecutor indicated that nothing had been review it. paraded before the jury. He had walked up to the bench where the clerk was and handed him the items and the jury was some twenty feet away, and the items were not held out for the jury to look The court indicated, nevertheless, that if the defense had something they wanted read to the jury he would review it. Counsel for Anthony Farina stated that the gun and the dagger were in clear sight of the jury. Judge Blount indicated that he did not know if they were or not. Mr. Mott also noted that the actors in the proposed reenactment were within the sight of the Judge Blount responded "Certainly they were. I asked you to submit me a proposed instruction if you desire." (T 620).

The contemplated reenactment never took place. The items were not admitted into evidence. The actors never read their lines. Any possible error was cautiously avoided. That the jurors may have seen state attorney personnel present in the courtroom without more, hardly entitles Anthony Farina to a new sentencing proceeding. Mr. Van Ness was properly in the

courtroom pursuant to Payne v. Tennessee, 111 S.Ct. 2597 (1991), and the proffer of his testimony evoked no due process concerns. The mere sight of the victim's father, without more, is hardly sufficient to vitiate the entire penalty phase. There is no evidence the jurors saw the gun, knife and rope. Even if they did, that the victims were killed, assaulted and bound by such items was hardly news to them, having sat through the guilt phase. There were no grounds present to grant a mistrial. The defense was given the opportunity to prepare an instruction for the jury which most certainly would have been done had the jury paid any attention to the matters complained of. If there was any error it was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 40 (Fla. 1986).

In closing argument the state attorney began:

As I began, I guess, the earlier statement that I made to you was -- began with a sentence something to the effect, I'm sorry that you are here. (T 1002).

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